DO NOT REMOVE FILE COPY FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA NO. 20-0192

(Circuit Court Civil Action No. 19-AA-80)

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The circuit court erred in finding that Mr. Derechin was actually and substantially prejudiced by the post-hearing delay of the Office of Administrative Hearings.
- 2. In reversing the OAH's findings that the Investigating Officer's credibility was not impeached and that there was no spoliation of evidence, the circuit court arbitrarily and capriciously substituted its judgment for that of the fact finder below.
- 3. The circuit court erred in ordering costs, fees, and expenses against the DMV.
- 4. The Division of Motor Vehicles also suffered actual and substantial prejudice which must be balanced with the prejudice proven by the driver, if any.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 1, 2013, at approximately 11:52 p.m., B. A. Lightner of the Charleston Police Department ("CPD"), the Investigating Officer herein, observed a black Toyota Rav 4 traveling on Court Street in Charleston, Kanawha County, West Virginia, make an illegal turn and turn abruptly. (App¹. at PP. 326, 332.) The Investigating Officer initiated a traffic stop and identified the driver of the vehicle as Joshua Derechin, the Respondent herein. *Id*.

Mr. Derechin had the odor of an alcoholic beverage emanating from his breath; had a nervous attitude; had glassy eyes; was unsteady while exiting the vehicle; was normal while walking to the roadside; was normal while standing; and admitted that he had been drinking alcoholic beverages "not tonight, earlier." (App. at PP. 327, 332.) The Investigating Officer asked Mr. Derechin to perform standardized field sobriety tests. (App. at PP. 327-328, 332-333.)

Prior to administering the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus ("HGN") Test, the Investigating

¹ App. refers to the *Appendix* filed contemporaneously with the *Brief of the Division of Motor Vehicles*.

Officer performed a medical assessment of Mr. Derechin's eyes which indicated that Mr. Derechin was a viable candidate for the test because he had equal pupils, equal tracking, and no resting nystagmus. (App. at P. 327.) During the HGN Test, Mr. Derechin exhibited impairment because both of his eyes lacked smooth pursuit, exhibited distinct and sustained nystagmus at maximum deviation, and displayed the onset of nystagmus prior to a 45 degree angle. (App. at P. 327, 333.)

The Investigating Officer explained and demonstrated the Walk-and-Turn Test, and Mr. Derechin exhibited impairment because he started the test too soon, completed an improper turn, missed walking heel-to-toe, and raised his arms to balance. *Id.* The Investigating Officer also noted that Mr. Derechin stumbled while taking this test. (App. at P. 327.)

The Investigating Officer explained and demonstrated the One Leg Stand Test, and Mr. Derechin exhibited impairment clues because he swayed while balancing, used his arms to balance, and hopped. (App. at PP. 328, 333.) The Investigating Officer also noted that Mr. Derechin put his foot down "twice in the first 10 counts." (App. at P. 328.)

Mr. Derechin declined the Investigating Officer's offer to take a preliminary breath test. (App. at PP. 328, 333.) The Investigating Officer arrested Mr. Derechin for DUI and transported him to the CPD for processing and for the administration of a secondary chemical test of the breath. (App. at PP. 325, 333.)

The Investigating Officer read and provided Mr. Derechin with a copy of the W. Va. Implied Consent Statement. (App. at PP. 329, 331, 333.) The CPD has designated the Intox EC/IR-II as the secondary test of the breath. (App. at P. 329.) The Investigating Officer was trained and certified to administer the Intox EC/IR-II at the W. Va. State Police Academy on April 15, 2004. *Id.* The Investigating Officer observed Mr. Derechin for 20 minutes to ensure that he had not ingested food

or drink and to ensure that he had no other foreign matter in his mouth. (App. at PP. 329, 333.) The Investigating Officer completed the remaining steps on the Breath Test Operational Checklist (App. at P. 329), and Mr. Derechin provided a breath sample which indicated that he had a blood alcohol concentration of .071%. (App. at PP. 325, 326, 329, 333.)

On February 22, 2013, the Division of Motor Vehicles ("DMV") sent Mr. Derechin an *Order of Revocation* for driving a motor vehicle in this State while under the influence ("DUI") of alcohol, controlled substances and/or drugs. (App. at P. 215.) Because this was Mr. Derechin's first DUI offense (as evidenced by his "A" file number), he had two options for reinstatement of his driving privileges: 1) he could serve 15 days of revocation plus successfully complete 120 days in the W. Va. Alcohol Test and Lock Program ("Interlock"); or 2) he could serve 90 days of revocation. (App. at P. 215.) Both options also required successful participation in the W. Va. Safety and Treatment Program and payment of reinstatement fees. *Id*.

On March 19, 2013, the Office of Administrative Hearings ("OAH") received Mr. Derechin's request for an administrative hearing. (App. at PP. 219-224.) On May 4, 2013, the OAH scheduled a hearing for July 9, 2013. (App. at P. 226.) On June 18, 2013, Mr. Derechin asked for his first continuance. (App. at PP. 237-240.) On June 25, 2013, the OAH granted Mr. Derechin's motion (App. at P. 242), and on June 26, 2013, it rescheduled the matter for September 12, 2013. (App. at P. 245.) On September 12, 2013, the DMV asked for an emergency continuance (App. at PP. 263-264) which the OAH granted the same day. (App. at P. 267.)

During the 2014 legislative session, in order to combat a backlog of cases awaiting both hearing and decision at the OAH, Senate Bill 434 was introduced to amend W. Va. Code § 17C-5A-3a. (App. at P. 93.) The amendments became effective on June 6, 2014, and permitted drivers whose

licenses were revoked for DUI of alcohol to immediately participate in the Test and Lock Program provided that their period of revocation would be served on Interlock and provided the drivers waived their right to ask for an administrative hearing. *Id.* The DMV offered participation to petitioners with DUI cases pending prior to the date of passage. Mr. Derechin did not avail himself of this option.

On August 12, 2014, the OAH rescheduled the matter for February 12, 2015. (App. at P. 270.) The rescheduling notice included *Additional Instructions to the Parties* which put the parties on notice that "[i]f a party intents to present testimony from any person (including any law-enforcement officer) it is the responsibility of that party to obtain the presence of the person at the hearing. The responsibility will be considered fulfilled by a party if the person whose testimony is desired has been subpoenaed by the party who desires his or her presence." (App. at P. 271.) The OAH also included a *Standing Memorandum Order Governing Motions to Admit Documentary Exhibits*² (App. at PP. 274-276), which cautioned the parties, *inter alia*, to "be prepared for the substantial prospect" that in the event the Investigating Officer does not appear, the DUI Information Sheet and other documents prepared by that officer which are part of the DMV's file will be admitted, and the matter may proceed to hearing over the objections of the arrestee. (App. at P. 276.)

Due to a scheduling error by the OAH (App. at P. 279), on February 6, 2015, the matter was rescheduled for hearing on March 12, 2015. (App. at PP. 282-285.) On March 2, 2015, at Mr. Derechin's request, the OAH issued a subpoena *duces tecum* to the Chief of the CPD seeking records related to the Intoximeter and Investigating Officer's disciplinary records. (App. at PP. 310-312.) On

² The *Standing Memorandum* is dated April 23, 2014 and signed by then Chief Hearing Examiner of the OAH, John G. Hackney, Jr. (App. at P. 276.)

March 11, 2015, Mr. Derechin asked for his second continuance of the hearing he requested, and the OAH granted his request. (App. at PP. 314-318.) On March 18, 2015, the OAH rescheduled the matter for August 28, 2015. (App. at PP. 320-323.) The OAH conducted an administrative hearing on August 28, 2015. (App. at P. 474.) The CPD Chief, who had been subpoenaed by Mr. Derechin, did not appear. Mr. Derechin proceeded with the OAH hearing and didn not take any action to enforce the subpoena.

On September 11, 2018, the DMV filed a *Motion for Final Order* with the OAH. (App. at PP. 75, 379-380.) The OAH did not respond to or rule on the DMV's motion. (App. at PP. 74-75, 210-560.) On July 22, 2019, the OAH entered its *Final Order*. (App. at PP. 384-393.)

On July 30, 2019, Mr. Derechin filed a *Petition for Appeal* with the Circuit Court of Kanawha County in which he alleged, *inter alia*, that he was actually and substantially prejudiced as a result of the OAH's delay in entering its *Final Order*. (App. at PP. 189-208.) On August 7, 2019, the circuit court conducted a hearing on Mr. Derechin's request for a stay or *supersedeas* of his license revocation, and Mr. Derechin testified. (App. at PP. 160-188.) On August 20, 2019, the DMV filed a *Cross-Petition for Judicial Review* in which it alleged it was actually and substantially prejudiced as a result of the OAH's delay in entering its *Final Order*. (App. at PP. 109-159.) On November 19, 2019, the circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing to comply with the requirements in syllabus point 2, *Reed v. Staffileno*, 239 W. Va. 538, 803 S.E.2d 508 (2017).

The circuit court entered its *Final Order Granting Appeal and Reversing Final Order of the Office of Administrative Hearings* on February 4, 2020. (App. at PP. 2-13.) The DMV filed its appeal with this Court on March 5, 2020.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Derechin was arrested for DUI, asked for an administrative hearing, and twice continued that hearing. Prior to and after the administrative hearing, he enjoyed the automatic stay of his license revocation but did not continue to move along his appeal by asking the OAH for an order or by filing a *mandamus* action to compel the OAH to enter an order. From the time of his arrest in 2013 through the present, Mr. Derechin has remained with the same employer and does not need a driver's license to perform his job as an engineer. After the OAH issued its *Final Order*, Mr. Derechin appealed, alleging that he was "aggrieved by the two and one-half year delay in receiving the hearing and four years awaiting a decision." (App. at P. 193.)

Mr. Derechin failed to prove that he was presumptively prejudiced by the pre-hearing delay or that he was unable to defend his case, and he failed to prove that there was a detrimental change in his circumstances post-hearing which caused him actual and substantial prejudice. Accordingly, the circuit court erred in finding that Mr. Derechin was actually and substantially prejudiced by the post-hearing delay of the OAH and erred in requiring the DMV to pay his attorney fees, costs and expenses caused by "the overall delay in this matter." (App. at P. 13.)

Further, Mr. Derechin was responsible by OAH rule and policy to enforce any subpoenas which he served. He failed to enforce a subpoena *duces tecum* served upon the CPD and did not prove that there was a spoliation of evidence. At the administrative hearing, Mr. Derechin failed to present any evidence to impeach the Investigating Officer's credibility pursuant to the W. Va. Rules of Evidence. On appeal, the circuit court arbitrarily and capriciously substituted its judgment for that of the fact finder below when it reversed the OAH's findings that the Investigating Officer's credibility was not impeached and that there was no spoliation of evidence.

Finally, the post-hearing delay by the OAH cannot be attributed to the DMV. While this matter was pending, the DMV formally and informally attempted to expedite the OAH's entry of its final orders. Even though the OAH attempts to accommodate drivers' requests to enter final orders, the OAH has not and will not accommodate the DMV's requests. The DMV is mandated to remove impaired drivers from the roadways as quickly as possible, yet the OAH's post-hearing delay severely impedes the DMV's mandate. Because the DMV has also suffered actual and substantial prejudice caused by the OAH's post-hearing delay, this Court must revisit *Reed v. Staffileno*, 239 W. Va. 538, 803 S.E.2d 508 (2017) to require the circuit court to consider the DMV's prejudice when it balances the prejudice proven by the driver, if any.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Argument pursuant to Rev. R. App. Pro. 20 (2010) is appropriate on the basis that this case involves a matter of fundamental public importance.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

"On appeal of an administrative order from a circuit court, this Court is bound by the statutory standards contained in W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(a) and reviews questions of law presented *de novo*; findings of fact by the administrative officer are accorded deference unless the reviewing court believes the findings to be clearly wrong. Syllabus point 1, *Muscatell v. Cline*, 196 W. Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 (1996)." Syllabus point 1, *Frazier v. S.P.*, 242 W. Va. 657, 838 S.E.2d 741 (2020). "Further, '[i]n cases where the circuit court has [reversed] the result before the administrative agency, this Court reviews the final order of the circuit court and the ultimate disposition by it of an administrative law case under an abuse of discretion standard and reviews questions of law *de novo*.'

Syl. pt. 2, id. "242 W. Va. 657, 838 S.E.2d 741, 746.

B. The circuit court erred in finding that Mr. Derechin was actually and substantially prejudiced by the post-hearing delay of the Office of Administrative Hearings.

This Court first addressed post-hearing delay by the OAH in *Reed v. Staffileno*, 239 W. Va. 538, 803 S.E.2d 508 (2017). There, this Court held that

[o]n appeal to the circuit court from an order of the Office of Administrative Hearings affirming the revocation of a party's license to operate a motor vehicle in this State, when the party asserts that his or her constitutional right to due process has been violated by a delay in the issuance of the order by the Office of Administrative Hearings, the party must demonstrate that he or she has suffered actual and substantial prejudice as a result of the delay. Once actual and substantial prejudice from the delay has been proven, the circuit court must then balance the resulting prejudice against the reasons for the delay.

Syl. Pt. 2, *Staffileno*, *supra*. This Court also held that "the law governing revocation proceedings before OAH does not impose time constraints on the issuance of decisions by that agency following an administrative hearing. *See* W. Va. Code § 17C-5C-1 *et seq*. and 105 CSR § 1-1 *et seq*." 239 W. Va. 538, 542, 803 S.E.2d 508, 512.

The first step in the *Staffileno* test was for the circuit court to make a finding as to whether Mr. Derechin had been actually and substantially prejudiced as a result of the OAH delaying issuance of its final order. If the circuit court found that Mr. Derechin failed to prove actual and substantial prejudice as a result of the delay, then the court's review on this issue was complete. There was no need to balance the reasons for the delay against a non-existent prejudice.

Here, the circuit court determined that Mr. Derechin suffered substantial and actual prejudice as a result of the delay in this matter and that his due process rights were violated because "he has for an unreasonable period of time foregone career advancement in his present company and a management position in another State. Moreover, as previously discussed, being unable to drive

would disqualify him from continuing in his present job, as analogous to the facts in *Staffileno*..." (App. at P. 7.) The circuit court relied on Mr. Derechin's testimony that he "is a bridge design engineer for Michael Baker International in Charleston. He lives in Elkview... Thirty (30) percent of his time is spent on assignments outside of West Virginia. He also works in distant parts within the State." (App. at P. 5.)

In making its decision that Mr. Derechin was prejudiced by the post-hearing delay of the OAH, the circuit court also considered that Mr. Derechin

has been unable to accept or apply for promotions while his license is in question. He was offered a management position with another company in his industry in Mississippi, but has declined due to his license being in jeopardy. . . Between the inception of the case below and 2016, Mr. Derechin was married and his wife was not employed, and until that time would have been available to drive him to his office and to work assignments. . . Mr. Derechin has no children, and no relatives closer than the Chicago area. . . A girlfriend, who does not live with him, had recently been staying with him temporarily to drive him locally if needed, which would not be a long-term solution. She is employed and travels in her work for the West Virginia Primary Care Association far outside the Charleston Area.

Id.

The requirement in this matter is that Mr. Derechin suffer "some type of detrimental **change** in ...circumstances ...related to the delay in OAH issuing its final order." *Straub v. Reed*, 239 W. Va. 844, 851, 806 S.E.2d 768, 775 (2017). [Emphasis added.] *See also*, *Reed v. Boley*, 240 W. Va. 512, 517, 813 S.E.2d 754, 759 (2018) (finding that "Mr. Boley has not actually alleged 'some type of detrimental change in his circumstances, related to the delay in OAH issuing its final order.' ") Here, the circuit court did not make a finding that Mr. Derechin identified some type of detrimental change in his circumstances related to the delay in OAH issuing its final order, yet it concluded that he was actually and substantially prejudiced as a result of the post-hearing delay. The court's

conclusion was clear error because post-hearing there has been no detrimental change in Mr. Derechin's circumstances related to the delay in the OAH entering its *Final Order*.

At the time of his arrest for DUI, Mr. Derechin was employed as a bridge design engineer for Michael Baker International, and he remained employed with Michael Baker International throughout the appeal to the circuit court. (App. at PP. 165, 169.) His office changed locations from Cross Lanes to Charleston (App. at P. 169), which is closer to his home in Elkview. (App. at P. 165.) Mr. Derechin testified that in the months following the administrative hearing, had he been required to serve the statutory license revocation period, he would have had alternate transportation by his wife who did not work. *Id.* He divorced in 2016 (App. at P. 170) and has no family in the area. (App. at P. 166.) He has no one available to take him to his work or work assignment, which are outside of West Virginia approximately 30% of the time. *Id.* Although Mr. Derechin speculated that being unable to drive himself might put his job "*in question*" and "*could* cause" him to lose his job, he did not testify that his employer would terminate him and did not have his employer testify. (App. at PP. 166-167, 168.) Mr. Derechin's testimony regarding prejudice was remote and speculative.

Further, Mr. Derechin testified that there is "nothing realistic" available to him regarding public transportation options because the public bus runs during irregular hours and would inconvenience him by causing him to walk about a mile. (App. at P. 167.) Mr. Derechin testified that he has been unsuccessful in getting an Uber ride which would cost him about \$22 one way from his house in Elkview to his office in Charleston. (App. at PP. 167-168.) There was no evidence before the circuit court that Mr. Derechin could not afford to pay for an Uber or a private driver. Mr. Derechin also testified that an unnamed company in Mississippi has "repeatedly" asked him during an undetermined time frame to move to Mississippi to work, but he "didn't want to go there and try

to have to work this out living in a different state, and you know, who knows what would have happened." *Id.* Again, Mr. Derechin's testimony regarding prejudice was remote and speculative.

Finally, Mr. Derechin did nothing to expedite issuance of the *Final Order* of the OAH: he did not file a *mandamus* action against the OAH seeking entry of a final order (App. at P. 173), and OAH Director and Chief Hearing Examiner Teresa Maynard testified that neither Mr. Derechin nor his counsel contacted the OAH to ask that the *Final Order* be entered. (App. at P. 72). Director Maynard accommodates drivers who contact her office by expediting final orders (App. at PP. 73-74.) The DMV has filed motions for entry of orders in numerous cases, including this one, and the DMV's requests to expedite the OAH final order are not heeded. (App. at PP. 74-75.)

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