DU NOT REMOVE FILE COPY

EVERETT J. FRAZIER, COMMISSIONER WEST VIRGINIA DIVISION OF MOTOR VEHICLES,

Petitioner,

v.

JOSHUA DERECHIN,

Respondent.



Docket No. 20-0192 (Circuit Court Action No. 19-AA-80)

SUMMARY RESPONSE OF RESPONDENT JOSHUA DERECHIN

Mark McMillian (W.Va. Bar No. 9912) *Counsel for Respondent* Mark McMillian - Attorney at Law, L.C. 1018 Kanawha Blvd, East, Suite 900 Charleston, WV 25301 Email: mark@markmcmillian.com Phone: 304-720-9099 Fax: 304-720-0290

SUMMARY RESPONSE OF JOSHUA DERECHIN

Comes now the Respondent, Joshua Derechin, by Counsel, and as provided by

Rule 10(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure responds to the Brief of

ARGUMENT

1. DMV's position that "The circuit court erred in finding that Mr. Derechin was actually and substantially prejudiced by the post-hearing delay of the Office of Administrative Hearings."

The parties both here and in the Court below rely substantially on the holdings of

Reed v. Staffileno, 803 S.E.2d 508 (W. Va. 2017).

Consequently, we now hold that on appeal to the circuit court from an order of the Office of Administrative Hearings affirming the revocation of a party's license to operate a motor vehicle in this State, when the party asserts that his or her constitutional right to due process has been violated by a delay in the issuance of the order by the Office of Administrative Hearings, the party must demonstrate that he or she has suffered actual and substantial prejudice as a result of the delay. Once actual and substantial prejudice from the delay has been proven, the circuit court must then balance the resulting prejudice against the reasons for the delay.

4444

In the context of a delay in issuing an order after a hearing has been held, the issue of prejudice necessarily involves prejudice to a party that occurred after the hearing was held. As a general matter, under *Miller [Miller v. Moredock*, 229 W.Va. 66, 726 S.E.2d 34 (2011)] the standard for post-hearing prejudice will ordinarily involve some type of change in a party's circumstances that may have been substantially prejudiced because of the delay in issuing a final order by OAH.

Staffileno at 513.

With those authorities in mind, the Court below clearly did not err in its findings. The Court properly found, based on the uncontroverted testimony of Mr. Derechin "Petitioner is regularly sent considerable distances on assignments by his company both in-state and out-of-state." (App. 004). "Petitioner is a bridge design engineer for Michael Baker International in Charleston. He lives in Elkview. (Aug. 7, 2019 Hrg. Tr. 6). Thirty percent of his time is spent on assignments outside of West Virginia. He also works in distant parts of the State. (Tr. 8)." (App.005).

Even reaching his office from his home without the ability to drive is clearly next to impossible. "He would first have to walk about a mile off a mountain to reach a bus line. The busses run infrequently and he often works irregular hours. Uber rates are \$20-22

one-way to Charleston and on each of several attempts to use that service resulted in 'no

cars available.' (Tr. 8-9)."(App. 006).

In terms of "some type of change in a party's circumstances" the record is clear.

The Court below, based on the evidence, found:

Between the inception of the case below and 2016, Petitioner was married and his wife was not employed, and until that time would have been available to drive him his office and to work assignments. (Tr. 6, 11).Petitioner has no children, and no relatives closer than the Chicago area. (Tr. 7). A girlfriend, who does not live with him, had recently been staying with him temporarily to drive him locally if needed, which would not be a long-term solution. She is employed and travels in her work for the West Virginia Primary Care Association far outside the Charleston area. (Tr. 18, 20).

There is "nothing realistic" available by way of public transportation for Petitioner even to reach his office. He would first have to walk about a mile off a mountain to reach a bus line. The busses run infrequently and he often works irregular hours. Uber rates are \$20-22 one-way to Charleston and on each of several attempts to use that service resulted in "no cars available." (App. 005-006)

Simply stated, though a driver's license is not an explicit requirement of Mr.

Derechin's position, the absence of his ability to drive would make it impossible for him

to attend to the core responsibilities of his job. Had a timely decision been reached by the

OAH, he could have at least for the short term had his then-wife drive him both to his

office and to distant assignments.

Moreover, the post-hearing delay in this case can only be described as excessive to the point of a violation of due process.

Nevertheless, this Court has recognized that "[a] driver's license is a property interest and such interest is entitled to protection under the Due Process Clause of the West Virginia Constitution." Syl. Pt. 1, Abshire v. Cline, 193 W.Va. 180, 455 S.E.2d 549 (1995). Thus, "due process concerns are raised when there are excessive and unreasonable delays in [driver's] license suspension cases." Holland v. Miller, 230 W.Va. 35, 39, 736 S.E.2d 35, 39 (2012). [T] his Court has long recognized the constitutional mandate that " 'justice shall be administered without ... delay.' W.Va. Const. Art. III. § 17." Frantz v. Palmer, 211 W.Va. 188, 192, 564 S.E.2d 398, 402 (2001). See Petry v. Stump, 219 W.Va. 197, 200, 632 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006); and Allen v. State, Human Rts. Comm'n, 174 W.Va. 139, 157, 324 S.E.2d 99. 118 (1984). We have further declared that "[i]ust as circuit court judges 'have an affirmative duty to render timely decisions on matters properly submitted within a reasonable time following their submission,' Svl. Pt. 1, in part, State exrel. Patterson v. Aldredge, 173 W.Va. 446, 317 S.E.2d 805 (1984), the obligation to act in a timely fashion is similarly imposed upon administrative bodies[.]" Frantz, 211 W.Va. at 192, 564 S.E.2d at 402. Indeed, as we held in syllabus point 2 of Frantz," '[A]dministrative agencies performing quasi-judicial functions have an affirmative duty to dispose promptly of matters properly submitted.' Syl. Pt. 7, in part, Allen v. State, Human Rights Comm'n, 174 W.Va. 139, 324 S.E.2d 99 (1984)."Miller v. Moredock, 229 W.Va. 66, 70, 726 S.E.2d 34, 38 (2011). Straub v. Reed, 806 S.E.2d 768, 773-774 (W. Va. 2017)

But, as recited ante, this Court has held that the resulting prejudice must be balanced

against the reasons for the delay. The Court below clearly heard and considered evidence

offered by the DMV and on balance, found it unpersuasive. See, Paragraphs numbered

16-17 of the Circuit Court's Order Granting Appeal and Reversing Final Order Entered

Below (App. 010-011).

2. Appellant's Argument that "In reversing the OAH's findings that the Investigating Officer's credibility was not impeached and that there was no spoliation of evidence, the circuit court arbitrarily and capriciously substituted its judgment for that of the fact finder below." The only evidence presented against the Petitioner was the Division of Motor Vehicles file. "In an administrative hearing conducted by the Division of Motor Vehicles, a statement of an arresting officer, as described in W. Va.Code § 17C–5A–1(b) (2004) (Repl.Vol.2004), that is in the possession of the Division and is offered into evidence on behalf of the Division, is admissible pursuant to W. Va.Code § 29A–5–2(b) (1964) (Repl.Vol.2002)." Syl. Pt. 7, Dale v. Odum, 233 W.Va. 601, 760 S.E.2d 415 (W. Va. 2014) citing Syl. Pt. 3, Crouch v. West Virginia Div. Of Motor Vehicles, 219 W.Va. 70, 631 S.E.2d 628 (2006).

While the OAH may have been obliged to admit the record submitted by the arresting officer, B. A. Lightner, that record is subject to challenge. "Of course, we recognized in Crouch that although a document is deemed admissible under West Virginia Code §29A–5–2(b), its contents may still be challenged during the administrative hearing. 219 W.Va. at 76 n. 12, 631 S.E.2d at 634 n. 12" Dale v. Odum, 233 W.Va. 601, 760 S.E.2d 415 (W. Va. 2014).

The Credibility of Officer B. A. Lightner

It was undisputed at any level below that Officer Lightner had left his employment with the Charleston Police Department for reasons of official misconduct. The OAH proceedings had been continued at the request of the DMV for purposes of securing his attendance, which ultimately proved unsuccessful. At the Request of Mr. Derechin a subpoena duces tecum was issued and served upon then police chief Brent Webster for, *inter alia*, disciplinary records concerning Lightner (App. 310-311). Chief Webster did not appear or respond in any way to the subpoena. However Mr. Derechin offered Newspaper Articles, as authorized by Rule 902(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, referring to Lightner's official dishonesty leading to his forced resignation. (App. 339, 343-346).

Aside from the foregoing, Lightner's reports, as contained in the DMV record admitted in the OAH matter, are internally irreconcilable as to factual accuracy. Lightner reports on his DUI information forms that he initially came in contact with Mr. Derechin on February 1, 2013 at "2352" (11:52 p.m.), conducted a number of field sobriety checks, offered him a PBT breath test (for which there is a mandatory 15 minute observation period prior thereto), arrested him, had his vehicle towed away, drove him to the police station, once there and taken inside conducted the mandatory 20 minute observation prior to the secondary breath test and conducted the intoxilyzer test there – all by 12:28 a.m.(App. 295-301), a total of 36 minutes, which is simply implausible by any stretch of the imagination. The Circuit Court on appeal correctly found it improper to have credited the officer's report over the testimony of Mr. Derechin.

The Spoliation Issue

The report of Officer Lightner indicated "In car video" with "yes" checked by Lightner (App. 296). On February 20, 2013 a letter was sent by registered mail to Chief Webster requesting preservation of evidence, including video records relating to the arrest and detention of Mr. Derechin (App. 336). The letter was delivered of February 21, 2013. (App. 337). However, a later-submitted document, under the cover "DUI Arrest Packet" (App. 341) prepared by Lightner lists "Vehicle Video Evidence" with "No" circled, followed by the instruction "If No, Explain". No explanation was given.

We hold that before a trial court may give an adverse inference jury instruction or impose other sanctions against a party for spoliation of evidence, the following factors must be considered: (1) the party's degree of control, ownership, possession or authority over the destroyed evidence; (2) the amount of prejudice suffered by the opposing party as a result of the missing or destroyed evidence and whether such prejudice was substantial; (3) the reasonableness of anticipating that the evidence would be needed for litigation; and (4) if the party controlled, owned, possessed or had authority over the evidence, the party's degree of fault in causing the destruction of the evidence. Tracy v. Cottrell, 524 S.E.2d 879, 890 (W. Va. 1999).

In the present case, Officer Lightner affirmatively indicated that an in car video was made. Mr. Derechin had justifiable confidence that production of the video would serve to vindicate him. He clearly recalled that he had not been under the influence and testified accordingly. His purported BAC was .071. Lightner reported his "walking to roadside" and "standing" as "normal" (App. 297). The video evidence, had it been preserved, would have arguably resolved all contested issues.

Turning to the factors enumerated in *Cottrell*, supra, factor 1 and 3 are clearly present. First, Lightner was a "party" to the action. "An arresting officer in a DUI case is a party to a license revocation hearing, within the meaning of W.Va.Code § 17C-5A-1, et seq., and within the meaning of the State Administrative Procedures Act, W.Va.Code § 29A-1-1, et seq.[.]" Syl. Pt. 1, Carte v. Cline, 488 S.E.2d 437, (W. Va. 1997). By letter delivered by certified mail to the police chief, he was specifically notified of need for the video. Concerning factor 2, Mr. Derechin was entitled to rely on the objective video evidence to oppose the irreconcilably inconsistent evidence provided by Lightner, who did not avail himself to the opportunity to clarify; and chose not to appear before the OAH where he would be subjected to cross-examination. While no explanation was obtained, even as required by the referenced form, as to why the video no longer existed, factor 4 must be decided in favor of Mr. Derechin, who exhausted means to have it preserved for his use and had no conceivable means to otherwise prevent its destruction.

3. Appellant's contention that "The circuit court erred in ordering costs, fees, and expenses against the DMV."

The salient portion of DMV's argument on this point is distilled to that appearing

in its brief at Page 30:

Here, in the 25 months between when the matter was first scheduled for hearing and when the matter was heard, the DMV continued the matter once; the OAH continued the matter once; and Mr. Derechin continued it twice. Further, Mr. Derechin failed to enforce the subpoena duces tecum which he served upon the Chief of the CPD. The award of costs, fees, and expenses against the DMV is unfounded. The DMV is the party opponent in this administrative appeal and is attributable for only one of the continuances. Moreover, the DMV was not responsible for securing the Investigating officer's appearance or for serving or enforcing the subpoena duces tecum which Mr. Derechin sent to the CPD.

In fact, Mr. Derechin requested one continuance because the matter was set, without

consideration of the parties availability¹, at a time when his counsel had longstanding prepaid, non-refundable international travel reservations. The second continuance that DMV attributes to Mr. Derechin was actually to secure compliance to the subpoena duces tecum, particularly with respect to the disciplinary records of Officer Lightner, which was ultimately abandoned given the additional collateral legal pursuits, costs and further delay of the hearing that would result. As discussed ante, the officer, and by extension the department to which he was accountable, are in the applicable sense a party to the action. In that vein, while the DMV eventually went forward without Lightner's appearance, on a prior occasion, it had requested an emergency continuance minutes before the commencement of the hearing because of Lightner's announcement that he could not appear for personal reasons. In sum, only a single continuance can be arguably attributed to Mr. Derechin. Deducting that time from the 25 months still leaves remaining an unreasonably long delay in having the matter heard, particularly as combined with the subsequent 47 month delay awaiting the final order. "[W]e further flnd that the cumulative effect of the multiple continuances and overall delay in this matter, while not prejudicial to Cormiffs defense, warrants an award of attorney fees and costs and therefore remand to the circuit court for a determination as to the reasonable amount of such fees and costs." Syllabus, Reed v. Conniff, 779 S.E.2d 568 (W. Va. 2015). The Court

¹In fairness, this was a departure from the ordinary practice of the OAH. Normally, prior to scheduling hearings, a range of dates available dates have been provided before setting matters for hearings.

below appropriately found, consonant with Conniff, that fees and costs were appropriate.

4. Petitioner's asserted error: "The Division of Motor Vehicles also suffered actual and substantial prejudice which must be balanced with the prejudice proven by the driver, if any."

The DMV, makes no secret of its ambition to, through present appeal, have *Staffileno* overturned (DMV's Counter-Petition below, App. 120). It has clearly selected the wrong case, and the wrong time. Mr. Derechin's case, for reasons set forth the decision and the record below, presents a compelling case supporting the need for the continuing vitality of *Staffileno*. The matter has been looming over him since February 1, 2013, at this writing seven and one-half years. Soon after moving here from Massachusetts, he was greeted by an officer with an existing record of misconduct who, in spite of evidence to the contrary arrested him for DUI with an alleged BAC of .071, and individually and through the auspices of the DMV subjected him through the ensuing years to the injustice and legal costs attendant to his vindication. While the DMV has an undeniable interest in public safety, urging this Court to abandon the well reasoned principles of *Staffileno* is a misguided effort.

The DMV argues that the reasons offered for the delays outweigh the prejudice to Mr. Derechin.

If Petitioner is able to meet his burden of demonstrating actual substantial prejudice, then the trial court should proceed to consider the reasons offered by the State for the delay and determine, after weighing the tendered justifications against the demonstrated prejudice, if due process was denied

based on the preindictment delay. Staffileno at 514, citing State ex rel. Knotts v. Facemire, 223 W.Va. 594, 604, 678 S.E.2d 847, 857 (2009).

As aptly addressed by the Court below, and accordingly a full recitation is unnecessary here, it considered the testimony and reasons from both Chief Counsel for the DMV and the Chief Hearing Examiner from the Office of Administrative Hearings and could not find the reasoning DMV now advocates.

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